THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-000360

Case No. 2017-CP-40-04819

RECEIVED
SEP 06 2019
SC Court of Appeals

William R. Folks, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated,.....Appellant,

v.

The South Carolina House of Representatives; The South Carolina Senate; The Honorable James H. Lucas, Speaker of the House of Representatives; The Honorable Harvey S. Peeler, Jr., President *Pro Tempore* of the South Carolina Senate; and the State of South Carolina,Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Helen Ann Siegling Thrower

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID CODIFICATION OF ACT 40 RENDER APPELLANT'S CLAIMS MOOT?
- II. IF APPELLANT'S CLAIMS ARE MOOT, DOES APPELLANT ESTABLISH AN EXCEPTION TO THE MOOTNESS DOCTRINE?
- III. DOES APPELLANT POSSESS PUBLIC IMPORTANCE AND TAXPAYER STANDING?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant filed this action against the South Carolina House of Representatives, the South Carolina Senate, their presiding officers, and the State of South Carolina on August 11, 2017 alleging that Act 40 of 2017 violates Article III § 17 of the South Carolina Constitution: “Every Act . . . shall relate to but one subject and that shall be expressed in the title”.

The Respondents then made Motions to Dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. The South Carolina House of Representatives and the Honorable James H. Lucas made their motion on September 21, 2017; the State of South Carolina on September 26, 2017; and by the South Carolina Senate and the Honorable Harvey S. Peeler, Jr. (substituted by Respondent pursuant to “Order Substituting Defendant and Reforming Caption” which was filed on January 18, 2019) on October 5, 2017. All parties filed Memoranda and Supplemental Memoranda.

A hearing on these motions was conducted at the Richland County Judicial Center on August 1, 2018. Plaintiff appeared along with his counsel and Respondents were represented by their respective attorneys.

On February 8, 2019, the Honorable Jocelyn Newman issued an Order Granting Defendants’ Motions to Dismiss, ruling that Appellant lacked standing and that his claims were moot.

Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal on March 6, 2019 and Respondents were properly served on March 6, 2019. Appellant contends he possesses both public importance and taxpayer standing, that he states a valid claim in that the Act violates Article III § 17 of the South Carolina Constitution and that his claims are not moot.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing the dismissal of an action pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCP, the appellate court applies the same standard of review as the trial court. *Williams v. Condon*, 347 S.C. 227, 553 S.E.2d 496 (Ct.App.2001). In considering a motion to dismiss a complaint based on a failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action, the trial court must base its ruling solely on allegations set forth in the complaint. *Spence v. Spence*, 368 S.C. 106, 116, 628 S.E.2d 869, 874 (2006). If the facts alleged and inferences reasonably deducible therefrom, viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, would entitle the plaintiff to relief on any theory, then dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6) is improper. *Baird v. Charleston County*, 333 S.C. 519, 511 S.E.2d 69 (1999); *Stiles v. Onorato*, 318 S.C. 297, 457 S.E.2d 601 (1995). “The question is whether, in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, and with every doubt resolved in his behalf, the complaint states any valid claim for relief.” *Gentry v. Yonce*, 337 S.C. 1, 5, 522 S.E.2d 137, 139 (1999). The complaint should not be dismissed merely because the court doubts the plaintiff will prevail in the action. *Toussaint v. Ham*, 292 S.C. 415, 357 S.E.2d 8 (1987).
Doe v. Marion, 373 S.C. 390, 395 645 S.E.2d 245, 247-48 (2007).

ARGUMENTS

I. CODIFICATION OF ACT 40 DOES NOT RENDER APPELLANT'S CLAIMS MOOT

Respondents rely on five cases to support their contention that codification immunizes Act 40 from an active, ongoing, Constitutional challenge: *S.C. Tax Comm'n. v. York Elec. Coop.*, 275 S.C. 326, 270 S.E.2d 626 (1980); *Colonial Life and Accident Ins. Co. v. S. C. Tax Commission*, 233 S.C. 129, 103 S.E.2d 908 (1958); *State v. Freeland*, 106 S.C. 220, 91 S.E. 3 (1966); *Nexsen v. Ward*, 96 S.C. 313, 80 S.E. 599 (1914); and *Parks v. Laurens Cotton Mills*, 75 S.C. 560, 56 S.E. 234 (1907). [Tr. p.14, 1.8-10] None of the cases relied upon by Respondents involved an active, ongoing, constitutional challenge to an Act that was being codified. None involved the House and the Senate as litigants. None involved a codification as an apparent response to an active, ongoing, constitutional challenge. Finally, and most importantly, in each case relied upon by Respondents, the General Assembly was given ample time to review the report of the code commissioner before passage of the report.

Respondents argue that the codification of Act 40 remedies any constitutional defect in the Act and renders this action moot. [Tr. p.14, 6-11]. In support of their argument, they rely heavily upon the fact that the codification bill must follow all of the formalities for the passage of laws under the constitution (Memorandum in Support of Motion to Dismiss by the S.C. House of Representatives and the Hon. James H. "Jay" Lucas, as Speaker of the House p.7) Presumably the argument would be that, because it must be passed as a bill and under the formalities for the passage of laws under the Constitution, it cannot be abused but will instead be scrutinized and reviewed as any other bill.

However, a critical, distinguishing fact in all of the cases relied upon by Respondents is that, because of the importance of codification and the potential for abuse, the General Assembly in these cases was actually given **more time** to review the Report of the Code Commissioner.

Originally, Article VI, Section 5 of the South Carolina Constitution provided the authority and duty of the code commissioner to codify the general statutory law of the State. See *Nexsen v. Ward*, 96 S.C. 313, 318, 80 S.E.599, 600-601 (1914); *Park v. Laurens Cotton mills*, 75 S.C. 560, 568, 56 S.E. 234, 237 (1907). Subsequently, the Constitution was amended and some sections rewritten, and those powers and duties are now provided for in Chapter 13 of Title 2 to the South Carolina Code of Laws (1976). The requirement of a codification of the entire Code every ten (10) years **and the requirement that there be a one (1) year waiting period from when the codification is introduced until it may be voted upon was eliminated**. The elimination of a one (1) year waiting period is a critical distinction the Respondents have not acknowledged.

Section 2-13-90 of the 1976 Code of Laws gives the Legislative Council and the Code Commissioner authority to revise volumes of the Code if, in its discretion, the supplement of any volume has become “too bulky for convenient use.” S.C. Code § 2-13-90. The revised volumes must be submitted to the General Assembly as a bill and passed under the formalities for the passage of laws under the Constitution. After becoming an Act, it is “the only general permanent statutory law of the state. *Id.* And S.C. Code § 2-13-170.

The requirement of a codification of the entire Code every ten (10) years **and the requirement that there be a one (1) year waiting period from when the codification is introduced until it may be voted upon was ruled upon**. The elimination of a one (1) year waiting period is a critical distinction the Respondents have not acknowledged.

To understand the significance of the one (1) year waiting period, it is helpful to understand Article 6, Section 5. The Court has stated its purpose:

The duty imposed upon the Code Commissioner to reduce into a systematic Code the general statutes with all the amendments thereto, and report the result of his labors to the General Assembly, shows that the framers of the Constitution contemplated that his report would embody, as far as possible, all the general statutory law of the state; but they realized that errors would be made, and that it would be necessary to make alterations and additions to the laws contained in the report of the commissioner. They, therefore, provided the manner in which the alterations or additions should be effected, to-wit: By bill passed under the formalities prescribed for the passage of other laws. The report is required to be placed upon the desks of the members of the Legislature, and **cannot be taken up for consideration until the next session thereafter.** The Constitution requires these things to be done, **in order that the members of the Legislature may have ample time** for ascertaining the necessary alterations and additions; and, in order that the alterations and additions may not then be made, without due consideration, it is provided that the report shall not be amended as an ordinary act, but that alterations or additions [233 S.C. 147] could only be made in the most formal manner for the passage of statutes.

Colonial Life and Accident Ins. Co. v. S.C. Tax Commission, 233 S.C. 129, 146-147, 103 S.E.2d 908, 916-917 (1958) (*emphasis added*).

In *Parks v. Laurens Cotton Mills*, 75 S.C. 560, 56 S.E. 234 (1907), in ruling that the codification of the Act remedied any constitutional defect, the Court quoted Article VI, Section 5 of the Constitution. The Constitution required the code commissioner's report be "laid upon the desk of each member of both houses of the General Assembly on the first day of the first session, but shall not be taken up for consideration until the next session of the General Assembly." *Id.* 237. A year had to pass between the introduction of the commissioner's report and the vote taken to pass the report.

In *Nexsen v. Ward*, 96 S.C. 313, 80 S.E. 599 (1914), the defendant sought to set aside a landlord's lien based on acts from 1866, 1869, 1878 and 1880. The Court also discussed the significance of the one (1) year waiting period and the potential for abuse.

It is true that mischief may result from the omission of valid statutes, or the insertion of invalid ones, or of other matter not theretofore a part of the statute law, whether done inadvertently or designedly. But that is a matter for legislative, rather than judicial consideration. **The Constitution and statutes have guarded against such alterations by requiring the report of the Code commissioner to be printed and laid on the desks of the members of the General Assembly a year before it can be taken up for legislative action.** The intent necessarily to be implied is that each member shall have ample time and opportunity to consider it carefully, and see that it contains all that it should, and nothing that it should not.

Id. 601 (*emphasis added*).

The most recent case cited by Respondents involved a constitutional challenge to the General Appropriations Act of 1971. *S.C. Tax Comm'n v. York Elec. Coop.* 275 S.C. 326, 270 S.E.2d 626 (1980). Though the requirement that one (1) year must pass after introduction of a codification bill is not mentioned in *York*, it should be noted that the Act of 1971, not challenged until 1980, was codified as part of the 1976 Code. Therefore, a significant amount of time had passed before its codification. The Court also relied upon *Colonial Life* which, as discussed above, discussed the one (1) year waiting period.

In *Colonial Life*, the challenged provision was part of the 1951 Appropriations Act. The codification bill was signed into law in 1952, adopting the 1952 Code of Laws. The statute at issue was amended after the introduction of the codification bill which is allowed and the process to do so is articulated in Article IV, Section 5 of the South Carolina Constitution. See *Colonial Life*, at p. 916. However, the codification bill was still introduced one year before its passage. Therefore,

the General Assembly had ample time to review the codification bill and was aware that those code sections were being codified.

Section 2-13-90 of the 1976 Code of Laws does not contain language that a codification bill cannot be taken up within one (1) year of its introduction. Appellant can find no authority to suggest it was eliminated in order to expedite the passage of a codification bill or to shorten the time in which the General Assembly has to review a codification bill.

H.3515 (Act 40) was introduced in the House of Representatives on January 18, 2017. It was Ratified on May 9, 2017 and became Act 40 on May 25, 2017. Appellant filed this action during the interim on August 11, 2017. On the second day of the following legislative session, January 10, 2018, S.0082 (Act 129) was introduced in the Senate. Thirteen days later it was given third reading by the Senate and sent to the House of Representatives. On January 26, 2018, three days after receiving the bill, it received third reading in the House of Representatives. It was Ratified on February 1, 2018, less than one month after its introduction, and became Act 129 on February 12, 2018.

To agree with Respondents' position that codification remedies any constitutional defect, like in the instant case, would be giving the General Assembly license to pass unconstitutional legislation, whether inadvertently or intentionally, and codify it immediately thereby prohibiting anyone from challenging the constitutionality of the legislation. The potential for abuse is obvious. In the instant case, even though the constitutionality was challenged by Appellant filing suit on August 11, 2017, the Court has not even had a chance to hear Appellant's claim. Potentially, under this rationale, unconstitutional legislation could be codified before anyone can even object.

This is simply does not comport with the Court's prior rationale and justification for its previous holdings. Other than the requirement that the codification bill must receive three readings in each body, Respondents' argument makes no allowance for the General Assembly to review a code commissioner's report. So, conceivably, a piece of legislation could be introduced, given third reading in a matter of days and then, as soon as it becomes an Act, a codification bill could be voted upon and ratified merely a few days later. The implications are tremendous, and the codification of Act 40 by Act 129 is a perfect example.

II. IF APPELLANT'S CLAIMS ARE MOOT, APPELLANT HAS ESTABLISHED AN EXCEPTION TO THE MOOTNESS DOCTRINE.

The Respondents' argument is a variant of the doctrine of mootness. South Carolina courts have recognized three exceptions to the doctrine of mootness.

First, if the issue raised is capable of repetition but generally will evade review, the appellate court can take jurisdiction. *E.g., id.; Sloan v. Department of Transp.*, 365 S.C. 299, 303, 618 S.E.2d 876, 878 (2005); *Byrd v. Irmo High Sch.*, 321 S.C. 426, 468 S.E.2d 861 (1996). "Second, an appellate court may decide questions of imperative and manifest urgency to establish a rule for future conduct in matters of important public interest." *Curtis v. State*, 345 S.C. at 568, 549 S.E.2d at 596. Third, "if a decision by the trial court may affect future events, or have collateral consequences for the parties, an appeal from that decision is not moot, even though the appellate court cannot give effective relief in the present case." *Id.; accord Sloan v. Department of Transp.*, 365 S.C. at 303, 618 S.E.2d at 878.

Sloan v. Dept. of Transportation, 379 S.C. 160, 168, 666 S.E.2d 236, 240 (2008) ("Ladson Road").

A. This Matter Is Capable of Repetition, Yet Evading Review.

This matter falls within the first exception to the doctrine of mootness: it is capable of repetition, but evades review. It is not difficult to see that this scenario is capable of repetition.

Acts of the General Assembly have been and will continue to be challenged as violative of the South Carolina Constitution.

Rather than conforming to the Constitution, the General Assembly could simply do again what it did in this case: codify the unconstitutional Act before any challenge can reach this Court, and then contend that their unconstitutional Act was thereby immunized from constitutional challenge.

The South Carolina Supreme Court applied this standard of “capable of repetition yet evading review” in the *Ravenel Bridge* case, which held that the manner of selection of the source of procurement of the Ravenel Bridge was unlawful, being by requests for proposals instead of by invitation for competitive sealed bids.

The DOT contends this case should be dismissed as moot because the construction contracts have been awarded and fully performed. We disagree.

“[A]n appellate court can take jurisdiction, despite mootness, if the issue raised is capable of repetition but evading review.” *Curtis v. State*, 345 S.C. 557, 568, 549 S.E.2d 591, 596 (2001).

Sloan v. Dept. of Transportation, 365 S.C. 299, 303, 618 S.E.2d 876, 878 (2005). In the *Ravenel Bridge* case, this Court ruled that use of the requests for proposal process was designed to accelerate the procurement process. The Court ruled, “Clearly, this issue is capable of repetition, yet will usually evade review. Accordingly, despite mootness, we will address the merits.” *Id.*

The standard is *capable* of repetition, not *likelihood* of repetition.

The party bringing the action need only show the issue raised is *capable* of repetition and **is not required to prove there is a “reasonable expectation” the issue will arise again.** *Byrd [v. Irmo High School]*, 321 S.C. at 431-32, 468 S.E.2d at 864 (finding South

Carolina has adopted the “lenient” approach to evading review analysis).

Sloan v. Greenville County, 356 S.C. 531, 554-555, 590 S.E.2d 338, 351 (2003) (italics in original; bold and underline added). As shown by past practices, the General Assembly is capable of continuing to violate the Constitution, and if this Court allowed it, capable of attempting to immunize its unconstitutional acts through codification, which would thereby allow their unconstitutional Acts to evade review.

In *Sloan v. Department of Transportation (Ladson Road)*, this Court explained its reasoning on the standard of capable of repetition, yet evading review.

We find the issue of whether the DOT properly authorized the emergency procurement is one that is capable of repetition, yet will usually evade review. For example, here an emergency procurement came four years into the construction project, which was then **completed within about six months**. The project was completed only a few months after Sloan filed suit and well before the parties filed motions for summary judgment. Therefore, the “capable of repetition but evading review” exception to mootness applies here.

Id., 379 S.C. 160, 168, 666 S.E.2d 236, 240 (2008) (footnote omitted, emphasis added).

This exception to the mootness doctrine should also apply here. In the case at bar, the codification took less than one month. In the course of a month, judicial review would be impossible.

B. This Matter is of Great Public Importance.

This case also falls within the second exception, an issue of great public importance. The analysis that supports public importance standing also supports a public importance exception to the doctrine of mootness.

In our discussion of Sloan's **standing** to bring this action, this court has already found in an analogous case that the "expenditure of public funds pursuant to a competitive bidding statute is of **immense public importance**." *Sloan [v. School District]*, 342 S.C. at 524, 537 S.E.2d at 303. **The same rationale applies with respect to mootness.**

Sloan v. Greenville County, 356 S.C. 531, 554, 590 S.E.2d 338, 350 (2003) (emphasis added).

In *Sloan v. Department of Transportation (Ladson Road)*, this Court analyzed the great public importance exception to the doctrine of mootness:

This Court has noted "the limited nature of the exception for questions of 'imperative and manifest urgency.'" *Sloan v. Greenville County*, 361 S.C. 568, 571, 606 S.E.2d 464, 466 (2004) (*Greenville County II*). In *Greenville County II*, we held that **where judicial guidance exists** on the legal issue presented, **there is no imperative and manifest urgency** for an advisory opinion.

In the instant case, however, there is no case law specifically addressing the DOT's authorization of an emergency procurement. Because this is a matter of public importance which **could occur** at any time (given the inherent unpredictability of emergencies), we find there is an urgent nature to this issue.

Accordingly, even though the Ladson Road Project was completed in 2005, we will address the other issues raised in the case.

Id., 379 S.C. 160, 169, 666 S.E.2d 236, 240 (2008) (*emphasis added*). To the knowledge of the undersigned, there is no case law on the subject of whether codification of an unconstitutional act terminates an ongoing, active Constitutional challenge, and this kind of activity "could occur at any time."

The Court made a similar ruling in the other *Sloan v. Department of Transportation* case. **"[D]espite the mootness in the present case, we find Sloan has standing to raise this issue."** *Id.*, 365 S.C. 299, 304-5, 618 S.E.2d 876, 879 (2005). This Court should address the issue, even though

it might be technically moot, as it did in the *Sloan v. Department of Transportation* cases.

C. This Matter May “Affect Future Events or Have Collateral Consequences.”

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