THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-000360

Case No. 2018-CP-40-04819

RECEIVED
DEC 04 2019
SC Court of Appeals

William R. Folks, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, Appellant,

v.

The South Carolina House of Representatives; The South Carolina Senate; The Honorable James H. Lucas, Speaker of the South Carolina House of Representatives; The Honorable Harvey S. Peeler, Jr., President Pro Tempore of the South Carolina Senate; and The State of South Carolina, Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Wm. Grayson Lambert

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

Moreover, the purpose of that waiting period (to give legislators time to ensure that the new code included only acts already adopted) is irrelevant here. Folks has never claimed that the codified provisions are not identical to the ones in Act 40.

In none of the five codification cases did the Supreme Court's holding turn on the one-year waiting period. Although in *Nexsen* and *Colonial Life* the court mentioned the requirement in describing the codification process, the court did not rely on that requirement in its holdings.

Folks also wrongly equates a one-year waiting period with more carefully considered legislation. Some issues may have been considered for a long time before a bill is introduced. Some bills may languish without consideration for a long time. Trying to discern the thought that legislators put into an act by looking to the time it took to pass that act is just one “hazard[]” of looking beyond the act itself. *S.C. Educ. Ass’n*, 883 F.2d at 1262. Ultimately, what matters is that the bill is passed, not how long it took to pass.

D. No mootness exception applies.

Unable to avoid the codification cases, Folks next insists that, even if his challenge to Act 40 is moot, the three exceptions to that doctrine allow the Court to consider this case. No exception, however, saves his challenge.

The first exception is for an issue that is capable of repetition yet evading review. *Sloan v. Greenville Cty.*, 380 S.C. 528, 535, 670 S.E.2d 663, 667 (Ct. App. 2009). Folks’s argument here hinges on his insistence that the General Assembly will deliberately violate the One Subject Rule and then rush to codify the act to avoid a lawsuit. But, of course, courts cannot accept that premise, and instead, they must attribute “proper motives . . . alone” to the General Assembly. *Cardozo*, 5 S.C. at 312.

The second exception is for matters of great public importance. This exception applies only when there is both “public importance” and “imperative and manifest urgency.” *Greenville Cty.*, 380 S.C. at 535, 670 S.E.2d at 667. Neither exists here. The codification issue arises only as a defense. If the question were so important, it would presumably arise on the face of the lawsuit itself. Additionally, our Supreme Court

has already offered clear guidance on the effect of codification on any One Subject Rule violation, and Folks's attempt to frame the question here more narrowly does not change the fact that the Supreme Court's decisions speak directly to this case.

The third and final exception is for cases that "may affect future events, or have collateral consequences for the parties." *Id.* A decision here will have no effect on these parties; after all, Act 40 has been codified, and any procedural defect cured. Nor will a decision impact future events. Case law on the One Subject Rule and on codification is well established, and reaffirming those decisions is unnecessary. Further, nothing needs to be "reiterated" to the General Assembly, which Folks (once again) accuses of deliberately violating the South Carolina Constitution. App. Br. 12.

II. The trial court correctly concluded that Folks lacks standing.

A. Using the public importance exception to provide future guidance to the General Assembly here would violate Article I, § 8 of the South Carolina Constitution.

South Carolina courts have recognized a "public importance exception" to the standing requirement. *Sloan v. Dep't of Transp.*, 365 S.C. 299, 304, 618 S.E.2d 876, 878 (2005). Folks bears the burden of proving that future guidance is needed here because it is an element of the exception he asks the Court to apply. *S.C. Pub. Interest Found. v. S.C. Transp. Infrastructure Bank*, 403 S.C. 640, 645, 744 S.E.2d 521, 524 (2013). The Court should decline Folks's invitation to apply this exception broadly and instead should follow Supreme Court precedent that makes clear the exception does not apply here.

In *ATC South, Inc. v. Charleston County*, the Supreme Court explained that the “key to the public importance analysis is whether an opinion is needed for future guidance. It is this concept of ‘future guidance’ that gives meaning to an issue which transcends a purely private matter and rises to the level of public importance.” 380 S.C. 191, 199, 669 S.E.2d 337, 341 (2008). In *ATC*, the Supreme Court concluded that the question presented did not warrant application of the exception because “the matter of importance must . . . be inextricably connected to the public need for court resolution for future guidance.” *Id.*

Since that decision, the Supreme Court has continued to hold that the exception should be applied only in narrow situations, explaining that it “tempered the application of the public importance exception somewhat in *ATC*.” *Bodman v. State*, 403 S.C. 60, 68, 742 S.E.2d 363, 367 (2013); *see also Freemantle*, 398 S.C. at 193, 728 S.E.2d at 44. The Supreme Court has consistently refused to expand the narrow circumstances that permit the use of the public importance exception. *See Jowers*, 423 S.C. at 360, 815 S.E.2d at 455; *Carnival Corp. v. Historic Ansonborough Neighborhood Ass’n*, 407 S.C. 67, 81, 753 S.E.2d 846, 853 (2014). In so doing, the Supreme Court has cautioned against an expansive view of the “exception, lest it swallow the rule.” *Jowers*, 423 S.C. at 360, 815 S.E.2d at 455.

An expansive view of this exception would improperly allow courts to exceed their “limited constitutional function of the ‘judicial power.’” *Carnival Corp.*, 407 S.C. at 81, 753 S.E.2d at 853 (quoting S.C. Const. art. V, § 1). Courts must decide only the case or controversy before them. Giving guidance to the General Assembly on how to

pass future legislation goes beyond exercising that judicial power and violates the separation of powers that is central to our Constitution. *See* S.C. Const. art. I, § 8 (“In the government of this State, the legislative, executive, and judicial powers of the government shall be forever separate and distinction from each other, and no person or persons exercising the functions of one of said departments shall assume or discharge duties of any other.”).

Here, the General Assembly found that the legislation advances its chosen policy goals. *See* 2017 S.C. Acts 40, § 27. Folks disagrees with that policy. That, of course, is his right. But he cannot ask this Court (or any court, for that matter) to strike down Act 40 because he disagrees with the policy the General Assembly chose to advance. After all, courts are not “bodies for the resolution of public policy and generalized grievances.” *Carnival Corp*, 407 S.C. at 81, 753 S.E.2d at 853.

Moreover, this challenge also implicates the General Assembly’s plenary power to tax. *See Gunter v. Blanton*, 259 S.C. 436, 441, 192 S.E.2d 473, 474 (1972) (“The power of the Legislature to provide for the imposition of taxes is unquestioned.”). Though Folks may disagree with the fees or taxes imposed in Act 40, Article I, § 8’s separation-of-powers mandate prevents a court from sitting as a “Council of Revision, conferring on itself the power to invalidate laws at the behest of anyone who disagrees with them.”³ *Bodman*, 403 S.C. at 68, 742 S.E.2d at 367. Once again, Folks’s objection

³ The Supreme Court distinguished fees from ordinary taxes in *Brown v. Horry County*, 308 S.C. 180, 417 S.E.2d 565 (1992). At the same time, the Supreme Court has also recognized that, in a more general sense, any revenue-raising measure enacted by the government is a tax. *See Columbia Gaslight Co. v. Mobley*, 139 S.C.

to the policy underlying Act 40 must “be remedied by the legislative and executive branches,” not by the courts. *Carnival Corp*, 407 S.C. at 81, 753 S.E.2d at 853.

Folks’s claim that future guidance is needed to determine how to implement Act 40 is not sufficient to meet the standard set by *ATC*. See App. Br. 16. The only future guidance the Court could give here is to the General Assembly because any administrative agencies that would implement the challenged act are not parties to this lawsuit. See, e.g., 2017 S.C. Acts 40, § 15 (directing the Department of Revenue to administer refundable tax credit for preventative maintenance). Courts, however, do not issue decisions to nonparties. *Langford v. McLeod*, 269 S.C. 466, 474, 238 S.E.2d 161, 164 (1977) (explaining that a court cannot bind nonparties). Thus, the Court should reject Folks’s attempt to avoid the separation-of-powers issue by shifting the supposedly needed guidance from being directed to the General Assembly to nonparties.

By applying the exception here, the Court would not only be stepping outside its judicial function but also would be expanding courts’ jurisdiction beyond their constitutional limits. The Constitution gives this Court and circuit courts jurisdiction over “cases” only. S.C. Const. art. V, §§ 9, 11; S.C. Code § 14-8-200(a). This “case” requirement means that a court’s jurisdiction may only be invoked by a justiciable controversy. See *Lennon v. S.C. Coastal Council*, 330 S.C. 414, 417–18, 498 S.E.2d 906, 908 (Ct. App. 1998) (“South Carolina courts, like the federal courts, require a

107, 137 S.E. 211, 212 (1927); see also *Hosp. Ass’n of S.C., Inc. v. Cty. of Charleston*, 320 S.C. 219, 231, 464 S.E.2d 113, 121 (1995) (Finney, J., dissenting).

justiciable case or controversy before any decision on the merits can be reached.”). That jurisdictional limit is set by the Constitution, so only the people of this State may expand that limit to allow courts to give the type of future guidance that application of the public importance exception here requires.

Disguising the future guidance sought by Folks as a claim for declaratory relief still does not authorize the Court to give the General Assembly future guidance. *See Tourism Expenditure Review Comm. v. City of Myrtle Beach*, 403 S.C. 76, 81–82, 742 S.E.2d 371, 374 (2013) (“The Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act does not require the Court to give a purely advisory opinion which the parties might, so to speak, put on ice to be used if and when the occasion might arise, or license litigants to fish in judicial ponds for legal advice.” (alterations and quotations omitted)). Courts cannot give these types of advisory opinions. *Power v. McNair*, 255 S.C. 150, 154, 177 S.E.2d 551, 553 (1970) (dismissing an appeal for non-justiciability and explaining that the “Declaratory Judgments Act does not require the court to give a purely advisory opinion”).

And in any event, future guidance is not needed. Just earlier this year, the Supreme Court reviewed the law on the One Subject Rule. *See S.C. Pub. Interest Found.*, 425 S.C. at 411–13, 822 S.E.2d at 807–08. In so doing, the court held that the General Assembly did not transgress that constitutional requirement. *Id.* Given that recent opinion on this subject, another judicial examination of it is unnecessary.

Despite Folks’s assertion to the contrary, the Supreme Court has never applied the public importance exception to give guidance to the General Assembly in a One

Subject Rule challenge. Folks's reliance on *American Petroleum Institute v. S.C. Department of Revenue*, 382 S.C. 572, 576, 677 S.E.2d 16, 18 (2009), on this point is misplaced.

American Petroleum does not discuss standing, much less the public importance exception or future guidance. *See id.* at 576, 677 S.E.2d at 18. This is because the petitioners in the Supreme Court's original jurisdiction did not mention the public importance exception in their petition or complaint but relied instead on the traditional injury-in-fact, or "constitutional," standing. *See* Pet. Orig. Jurisdiction 1 n.1, *Am. Petroleum Inst. v. S.C. Dep't Revenue* (June 26, 2008); Compl. ¶¶ 1–2, 34–41, *Am. Petroleum Inst. v. S.C. Dep't Revenue* (June 26, 2008). The Supreme Court determined that the petitioners in *American Petroleum* had suffered an injury-in-fact by preliminarily enjoining the implementation of the challenged legislation while the merits of the act were considered. *See Am. Petroleum Inst.*, 382 S.C. at 576, 677 S.E.2d at 18; *see also Poynter Invs., Inc. v. Century Builders of Piedmont, Inc.*, 387 S.C. 583, 586, 694 S.E.2d 15, 17 (2010) (requiring an irreparable injury to be entitled to a preliminary injunction).

By relying on *American Petroleum*, Folks conflates the public importance exception to standing with the public interest standard for invoking the Supreme Court's original jurisdiction. *See* App. Br. 14. As the Supreme Court has explained, the standard for accepting a case in the original jurisdiction requires the case be of "public interest," Rule 245(a), SCACR, which differs significantly from the standard applicable to the public importance exception, *see Carnival Corp.*, 407 S.C. at 80, 753

S.E.2d at 853. In fact, the Supreme Court itself has made clear that the standard for original jurisdiction and the public importance exception to standing “aim to answer different questions—whether the public interest requires expeditious resolution of a case versus whether the public interest requires resolution of a dispute for future guidance despite the lack of standing” and that “the grant of the petition for original jurisdiction has no effect upon whether the public importance exception applies.” *Id.* Thus, *American Petroleum* offers Folks no support here.

B. Taxpayer standing has been abolished by our Supreme Court.

“Standing to sue is a fundamental requirement in instituting any action.” *Joytime Distribs. & Amusement Co. v. State*, 338 S.C. 634, 639, 528 S.E.2d 647, 649 (1999). To meet this fundamental requirement, Folks also relies on his status as a taxpayer. Since 2008, taxpayer standing is no longer recognized in South Carolina. *See Bodman*, 403 S.C. at 66–67, 742 S.E.2d at 366 (“In *ATC*, we unanimously closed the door to a litigant asserting standing simply by virtue of his status as a taxpayer”); *accord Freemantle*, 398 S.C. at 193, 728 S.E.2d at 44.

Despite citing cases from 1890 to 2000, *see* App. 18–20, Folks ignores *ATC*’s rejection of taxpayer standing and the cases that have followed in the eleven years since, never addressing what the Supreme Court said in *ATC*, *Bodman*, or *Freemantle* about taxpayer standing. Presumably, this is because those cases establish that Folks’s status as a taxpayer is insufficient to establish standing. Therefore, the trial court correctly dismissed his complaint for lack of standing.

Although he failed to raise the argument below (much less get a ruling on it from the trial court), Folks now attempts to analogize his claim of taxpayer standing to a claim that he has suffered an injury-in-fact sufficient to establish traditional standing. *See* App. Br. 18, 20. This argument is not preserved.

As this Court has repeatedly held, an argument on appeal must be raised and ruled upon by the trial court to preserve it for appeal. *See, e.g., Fisher ex rel. Shaw-Baker v. Huckabee*, 415 S.C. 171, 181, 781 S.E.2d 156, 161 (Ct. App. 2015) (holding a plaintiff had waived alternative ground for standing by failing to raise it below), *aff'd as modified sub nom., Fisher on behalf of estate of Shaw-Baker v. Huckabee*, 422 S.C. 234, 242, 811 S.E.2d 739, 743 (2018); *see also Buist v. Buist*, 410 S.C. 569, 574, 766 S.E.2d 381, 383 (2014).

Folks tacitly recognizes he did not raise this argument below by failing to include any citation to the record in his brief to support the claim he raises for the first time on appeal that he “contributed to the general tax funds of the State.” App. Br. 20. He failed to argue that he paid any taxes related to Act 40 at the motion to dismiss hearing, (R. p. 45, lines 23–25; p. 67, lines 8–9; p. 69, lines 14–15), or in the briefing below, (R. pp 228–32, 248–49). Nor did Folks plead what he “contributed” to the general tax fund. Instead, his sole allegation in the complaint is that he is “a citizen, resident, taxpayer, and registered elector of the State of South Carolina.” (R. p. 20). By failing to raise this argument below, it is not preserved for review, and the Court need not entertain it. *See Fisher*, 415 S.C. at 181, 781 S.E.2d at 161.

And even if the Court did consider this argument, it is unpersuasive. To accept this argument that paying taxes under an allegedly illegal statute constitutes an injury-in-fact would, in effect, ignore the Supreme Court's holding in *ATC*.

III. Act 40 does not violate the One Subject Rule.

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